2000

# John B. Hawkins v. Tom Callahan : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

### **STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION**

The Supreme Court has jurisdiction in this matter pursuant to Section 78-2-2(3)(j), Utah Code Ann. (1953, as amended). The Utah Supreme Court may transfer this case to the Utah Court of Appeals.

### **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

I. Whether or not the trial court erred in denying plaintiffs' Rule 59 motion to amend the judgment in question. [R:494-496] With respect to a Rule 59 motion, the standard for review is whether the trial court committed an abuse of discretion. Interstate Excavating, Inc. v. Agla Dev. Corp., 611 P.2d 369 (Utah 1980).

II. Whether or not the trial court erred in accepting evidence at trial contradicting the admissions established by the Order issued by the trial court, executed November 27, 1998. [R:505 pp. 3:17-4:4, 27:3-11, 163:12-25] With respect to an appeal which presents only questions of law, the trial court's rulings are accorded no deference and are reviewed for correctness. With regard to the trial court's amendments to admissions at the time of trial, the standard for review is error in

law, the trial court having no discretion to do so. Langeland v. Monarch Motors, Inc., 952 P.2d 1058 (Utah, 1998).

III. Whether or not the trial court erred in finding that the lease extension executed by plaintiff was fraudulently altered by defendant. [R:505 163:12-25] With respect to findings of fact, the Trial Court's findings will be upheld unless the evidence is so completely lacking or so slight and unconvincing as to make the verdict plainly unreasonable or unjust. Nelson v. Trujillo, 657 P.2d 730, 732 (Utah 1982).

#### **STATUTES, ORDINANCES AND RULES**

Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 36. (A copy of Rule 36 is attached as Addendum, Exhibit "D.")

Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 59. (A copy of Rule 59 is attached as Addendum, Exhibit "E.")

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This is a landlord-tenant case. Plaintiff filed suit to evict Defendant and sought treble damages for unlawful detainer. Defendant counter-claimed for breach of contract, wrongful eviction and self-help eviction.

Pursuant to the motion of Defendant, the trial court executed an order on November 27, 1998, establishing several requests for admissions, as submitted by Defendant to Plaintiff. [R:122-128, 194-199] The case was tried before the trial court on March 22, 1999. [R: 505] The trial court received evidence contradicting the admissions during the course of trial. [R:505, pp. 3:17-4:4, 27:3-11, 163:12-25.] At the conclusion of trial, the trial court held that the lease extension which had been established by request for admission no. 18 and Exhibit "B" attached thereto, introduced into evidence as part of Plaintiff's Exhibit 4, was a document which had been altered by the Defendant subsequent to its execution by the Plaintiff. [R:505, p. 163:12-25] The trial court thereby rejected admission no. 18 from its Order dated November 27, 1998. [R:505, p. 163:12-25] The trial court held that there was no lease extension and that Defendant was therefore a month to month tenant under the lease admitted into evidence as Plaintiff's Exhibit no. 1. [R:505, p. 163:12-25] The Trial court found that Plaintiff had engaged in a self-help eviction. However,

since the Trial court had found that Defendant was a hold-over tenant, the Trial court only awarded damages for certain property which had been left outside during the course of the self-help eviction. [R:505, pp. 164:14-165:12]

The Trial court entered the findings of fact and conclusions of law on September 14, 1999. [R:422-427] The Trial court entered judgment on October 19, 1999. [R:466-468]

Plaintiff filed a motion to amend the judgment, pursuant to Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 59, on September 24, 1999 [R:428-445] (which motion was filed again post-judgment on October 27, 1999. [R:469-470]) The Trial court issued an order denying the Rule 59 motion dated May 24, 2000. [R:494-496] Notice of appeal was filed June 7, 2000. [R:497-498]

#### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

The procedural facts and the disputed and undisputed material facts presented to the trial court, and which are relevant to this appeal, consisted of the following:

On November 27, 1998, the trial court signed an order, establishing 34 requested admissions in the case. [R:122-128, 194-199, 252.] Moments before trial began on March 22, 1999, on its own motion, the trial court announced to the parties that it would accept verbal testimony that the admissions were not true statements. [R:505, pp. 3:17-4:12]

Admission no. 18 consisted of the following: "Please admit that the document attached hereto as Exhibit "B" is a true and correct copy of an extension of the lease agreement between you and Tom Callahan." [R: 124, 196, 301 Plaintiff's Exhibit no. 4] Plaintiff testified at trial that he had signed the document in question. [R:505 p. 36:18-21, Plaintiff's Exhibit no. 4] However, he also testified that the document had been altered by the defendant. [R:505, pp. 36:24-37:5] The trial court concluded that the document was fraudulent and therefore justified setting aside the admission to make a finding that there was no lease extension. [R:505, p. 163:12-25]

On cross examination concerning the lease extension, the plaintiff was shown approximately seven green 3 x 5

cards containing his signature. [R:301 Plaintiff's Exhibit no. 4; 505, pp. 59:5-61:7] Most of the cards were receipts for rental payments. [R:301 Plaintiff's Exhibit no. 4] Plaintiff acknowledged that his signature appeared on each of the cards near the center of the card, just below the text. [R:301 Plaintiff's Exhibit no. 4; 505, pp. 59:11-61:7] One of the cards was the lease extension. Plaintiff's signature was squeezed into the very corner of the card, because the text left very little room for execution by plaintiff. [R:301 Plaintiff's Exhibit no. 4; 505, pp. 59:11-61:7] Plaintiff acknowledged that he had signed the card. [R:505, p. 36:18-21] However, plaintiff testified that the text had been added by defendant after the card was signed. [R:505, pp. 36:24-37:5] Plaintiff stated that he could offer no explanation for why he had signed the card squeezing his signature into the corner on that particular card. [R:505, pp. 60:9-61:7] There was no evidence or testimony that any alteration had been made to the text. Plaintiff's only testimony was his completely unbelievable conclusory statement that he had



signed a blank card in the very corner for no apparent reason. [R: pp. 60:9-61:7]

Defendant was prejudiced by the trial court's withdrawal of the admissions on its own motion at trial. The lease extension was the cornerstone of defendant's case. Defendant was afforded no opportunity to prepare for the unsolicited change in the trial court's order. Moreover, the finding of the trial court was unequivocally contradicted by the evidence.

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

According to Langeland v. Monarch Motors, Inc., 952 p.2d 1058 (Utah 1998), the trial court has limited or no discretion to set aside request for admissions, absent full compliance with Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 36(b). There are various reasons for the prohibition against setting aside requests for admissions, including without limitation prejudice to the opposing party.

In the present case, the trial court issued an Order establishing requests for admissions on November 27, 1998. The case proceeded to trial on March 22, 1999. Just moments before the trial began, the trial court

announced that it would accept evidence contradicting two extremely significant admissions. Admission no. 1 stated, "Please admit that the document attached as Exhibit 'A' is a true and correct copy of the lease agreement between you and Tom Callahan." [R:122-123, 194] The trial court stated that it would accept evidence from the Plaintiff that the lease had been fraudulently altered after it was executed by the Plaintiff. Admission no. 18 stated, "Please admit that the document attached hereto as Exhibit 'B' is a true and correct copy of an extension of a lease agreement between you and Tom Callahan." [R:124, 196] The trial court stated that it would accept evidence that the lease extension was a fraudulent document or had been altered by Mr. Callahan after it was signed by the Plaintiff. The entire case turned on the trial court's rejection of admission no. 18 during the course of trial.

According to the rule of law stated in Langeland, the trial court had no discretion to set aside the admission established by its November 27, 1998 Order during the course of the trial.

Even a cursory review of the evidence reveals that the lease extension was a true and correct copy. The Plaintiff testified at trial that he signed the document in question. The document in question was a very small 3 x 5 card completely filled with writing. The Plaintiff signed the 3 x 5 card in its lower right hand corner. The 3 x 5 card containing the lease extension was compared to five other 3 x 5 cards which Plaintiff testified that he had also signed. On each of those 3 x 5 cards, Plaintiff's signature appeared immediately below the text on the card leaving the bottom of the card blank. There was never any space left blank above the signature. If one were to conclude that the Plaintiff always signed his name directly beneath the text on the card, there is no way that the lease extension card in question could have been altered after it was executed by the Plaintiff. Plaintiff was given the opportunity to explain why he had signed the card in the lower right hand corner if some of the text had been missing. The Plaintiff stated that he had no explanation. The Plaintiff also acknowledged that his claim that the lease

extension had been altered after he signed it was inconsistent with his pattern of signing the other five 3 x 5 cards. In short, even if Rule 36(b) permitted the trial court to change the admissions on the spur of the moment during the course of trial, no reasonable person could have concluded that the lease extension was a forgery or had been altered Plaintiff signed it.

Because the Defendant is entitled to a finding that the lease extension was valid, Defendant should be the prevailing party on his counterclaim for breach of contract and wrongful eviction. As such, Mr. Callahan is entitle to damages measured by the difference in his lease with the Plaintiff and the new lease he obtained thereafter, damages associated with the time that he spent homeless as a result of Plaintiff's self-help eviction, including punitive damages, and the full award of his attorney's fees with regard to the issues as to which he prevailed, together with a reduction in the attorney's fees awarded to Plaintiff.

## ARGUMENT

### I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY ALLOWING THE INTRODUCTION OF EVIDENCE AT TRIAL IN CONTRADICTION TO ADMISSIONS

Utah Rules of Civil Procedure ("URCP"), Rule 36(b) sets forth the procedure which a party must follow after failing to timely respond to requests for admissions. The leading case applying Rule 36(b) is Langeland v. Monarch Motors, Inc., 952 p.2d 1058 (Utah 1998). If the standard set forth in Langeland, discussed below, is not met, then the trial court has no discretion to set aside admissions already established. Id. at 1064.

Under the circumstances of the present case, the trial court's decision to accept testimony which contradicted the established admissions was an unequivocal breach of the rule of law established by Langeland. In the present case, the plaintiff failed to timely respond to requests for admissions. The defendant filed a motion requesting that the trial court issue an order establishing the admissions. The parties fully briefed the issue, although the plaintiff never filed a motion pursuant to Rule 36(b) to have the admissions set

aside. On November 27, 1998, the trial court signed an order establishing the thirty-four requested admissions in the case. In rendering its decision, the trial court stated to the parties that it recognized that it was without discretion to set aside the admissions, for the reasons set forth in Langeland. [R:252]

Notwithstanding the Order dated November 27, 1998, and the trial court's previous statements to the parties with regard to its lack of authority to set aside the admissions, when the parties appeared for trial, the trial court surprised the parties by stating that it was not comfortable with its Order issued four months earlier and that it would, therefore, be willing to accept testimony from plaintiff that some of the admissions were not correct. [R:505 pp. 3:17-4:12] It is apparent from the record that the trial court was prejudicially predisposed to change the admissions, and that the change was not based on any perceived credibility of Mr. Callahan. [See the statement of the Court before Mr. Callahan testified at R:505 pp. 3:17-4:12, 54:16-55:1]

In the present case, the standard set forth by the Utah Supreme Court prohibits withdrawal or amendment of the admissions or acceptance at trial of contradictory evidence.

The trial court issued an Order establishing the admissions. The trial court cannot amend the admissions, set them aside or change its order with respect thereto at the moment trial is set to begin.

Defendant was extremely prejudiced by the Trial court's amendment to the Admissions on its own initiative. In accordance with the standard set forth in Langeland v. Monarch, the Admissions could not have been amended even if Plaintiff were to meet his burden, discussed below, because of the prejudice that would result to Defendant. One of the purposes of the Requests for Admissions was to establish specific facts that would alleviate the need to call additional witnesses or to otherwise spend time in preparation as to documents that would be introduced at trial. Because the trial court failed to act until trial, Defendant had no chance to issue subpoenas to witnesses that were made unnecessary

as a result of the Admissions in this case. In fact, various witnesses were out of the state and because of the passage of time would likely have been unavailable to Defendant to testify at trial. These include at least two other roommates that were evicted by Plaintiff. The unavailability of witnesses does satisfy the requirements of Langeland v. Monarch requiring Defendant to show prejudice in order to prevent amendment to the Admissions. Because of the prejudice to Defendant "the Trial Court had no discretion" to amend the Admissions, particularly on the day of trial and without even the filing of an appropriate motion. Id. at 1064.

According to the Supreme Court in Langeland, because of the prejudice to Defendant "the Trial Court had no discretion" to set aside or alter the admissions or to receive contradictory evidence. Id. at 1064.

**II. PLAINTIFF FAILED TO FILE THE  
MOTION REQUIRED BY RULE 36(b).**

In accordance with the standard set forth in Langeland v. Monarch, Plaintiff was required to file a motion pursuant to Rule 36(b) in order to change the



effect of his failure to respond to the requests for admissions. Plaintiff failed to file a motion under Rule 36(b). Plaintiff failed to file any similar motion which might be construed as a motion under Rule 36(b). Therefore, all of the admissions must stand.

Even if plaintiff had filed the required motion, the motion would have been denied, as a matter of law. The standard set forth in Langeland v. Monarch provides that Plaintiff has the burden of establishing that amendment or withdrawal of the admissions would serve the presentation of the merits of the action. "Once these matters have been admitted against a party, something more than a bare denial is required to convince the Court that the admissions should be withdrawn or amended and that the merits of the matter should be argued in Court." Langeland, Supra, at 1062. In other words, Plaintiff must "introduce some evidence by affidavit or otherwise as specific facts indicating that the matters deemed admitted against it are in fact untrue." Id. Even if plaintiff had filed the appropriate motion, there was nothing in his testimony which would have met the

required standard. See Argument III, below. Likewise, at trial, Plaintiff offered nothing more than a bare denial of the admissions in question. He admitted that he had not maintained a copy of the documents in question. [The totality of the testimony concerning any alteration is found in the record at R:505 pp. 23-34, 55-61, 64-65, 86-94, 122-123.]

The results are not as harsh as they might seem. Most of the matters deemed admitted were established by the documents upon which they were based or were otherwise consistent with the Plaintiff's actual admissions. See Argument III, below. The Admissions established that the lease and the extension of the lease entitled Defendant Tom Callahan to occupy the premises in accordance with their terms until March 19, 1999. [R:122-128, 194-199.] The Admissions established that Tom Callahan was not in breach of the lease and that his eviction was wrongful. [R:122-128, 194-199.] The Admissions relieve the parties and the Trial court from dealing with the "he-said/she-said" type of oral evidence that was permitted at trial with regard to these issues.

**III. THE EVIDENCE WAS THAT THE LEASE EXTENSION CARD WAS  
NOT ALTERED BY MR. CALLAHAN.**

Even if the trial court had the discretion to alter the admissions at the time of trial, or based on testimony at trial, testimony did not justify any amendment to admission no. 18, nor did the evidence justify a finding that Exhibit "B" (Plaintiff's Exhibit "4") was anything other than an unaltered extension of the lease, as it purported to be on its face.

Except as to Plaintiff's Exhibit "4", because Plaintiff failed to file the required motion under Rule 36(b), Defendant will not go into great detail in this memorandum to show the inability of Plaintiff to meet such a burden as to the original Lease or the other admissions. The Lease is discussed very briefly under Argument IV. Nevertheless, the Court may be interested to note Plaintiff's testimony as to most or all of the most significant admission. For example, Plaintiff admitted that the signature on the document attached as Exhibit "A" was his signature. [R:301 Plaintiff's Exhibit 1; 505 p. 23:18-22] Plaintiff acknowledged that

he does not have his own copy of the lease. [R:505 pp. 24:1-2, 34:10-18, 64:12-65:2] Similarly, in response to Request for Admission No. 19, Plaintiff admitted that it was his signature on the document attached as Exhibit "B". [R:301 Plaintiff's Exhibit no. 4; 505 pp. 36:18-21.] It seems nonsense that Plaintiff wishes to deny that the extension is exactly what it purports to be. Other various admissions are simply admissions of facts set forth in other documents. These documents are virtually impossible for Plaintiff to controvert.

At trial several signature cards, signed by the Plaintiff each month, were introduced as exhibits. [R:301 Plaintiff's Exhibit no. 4] All of the signature cards were executed by Plaintiff directly beneath the text on the card. [R:301 Plaintiff's Exhibit no. 4; 505 pp. 34:20-37:5, 59:11-61:7] In each case the text on the card was in the center of the card and the signature of Plaintiff was also very near the center of the card. [R:301 Plaintiff's Exhibit no. 4; 505 pp. 59:11-61:7] In stark contrast, Exhibit "B" was executed by the Plaintiff on the very bottom of the card, indicating that it was

executed by the Plaintiff when the text of the card completely filled the remainder of the card. [R:301 Plaintiff's Exhibit no. 4; 505 pp. 59:11-61:7] There is no other possible explanation for execution by the Plaintiff on the lower part of the card. At trial, Plaintiff was invited to give an explanation for why his signature might be on the very bottom edge of the card. [R:505 pp. 60:9-61:7] Plaintiff had absolutely no explanation. [R:505 pp. 60:9-61:7] Plaintiff's testimony was essentially an admission that the text had, in fact, been there at the time that he executed the card.

Plaintiff also testified that the only time he spoke to Mr. Callahan about extending the Lease was in March 1998. The Lease Extension was signed January 20, 1998. Mr. Callahan would have had to have created the forgery two months before Plaintiff alleges that the subject even came up! [R:301 Plaintiff's Exhibit 4; 505 p. 37:6-16]

Based on that evidence, the only finding that the Trial court could reach is that Plaintiff executed the card when all of the text constituting the extension of

the lease was already on the card. As a matter of law, Mr. Callahan had the right to occupy the premises until March 15, 1999 as provided by Exhibit "B". Admission no. 19 established that Plaintiff executed the card. Plaintiff's testimony at trial was that it was, in fact, his signature on the card. [R:505 p. 59:11-61:7]

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