2000

John Hawkins v. Tom Callahan : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This action began as a simple attempt by the Plaintiff to regain control of his property and ended up being a three ring circus of the Defendant attempting to defraud the court, with the case itself being churned for attorney's fees. It is no coincidence that the single greatest element of "damages" claimed by the Defendant in this case are his attorney's fees. It is likewise not a coincidence that the Defendant proclaimed himself "impecunious" and judgment proof.

Before getting to the "merits" of the Defendant's appeal, the Defendant would have to clear two hurdles which are fatal to the current action.

The first problem is that this Court has no jurisdiction to even address the appeal. Rule 4(a) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure provides:

In a case in which an appeal is permitted as a matter of right from the trial court to the appellate court, the notice of appeal required by Rule 3 shall be filed with the clerk of the trial court within thirty days after the date of entry of the judgment or order appealed from. However, when a judgment or order is entered in a statutory forcible entry or unlawful detainer action, the notice of appeal required by Rule 3 shall be filed with the clerk of the trial court within ten days of the date of entry of the judgment or order appealed from.

U.R.A.P. Rule 4(a).

This is an unlawful detainer action and therefore, according to the Rule, the Notice of Appeal needed to be filed within ten days of the date of judgment. The initial judgment in this action was filed on October 21, 1999. R.466. The Notice of Appeal was filed on June 7, 2000. R.497.

The time for filing the Notice of Appeal is stayed when a timely motion under Rule 59 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure is made. In that event, the Notice of Appeal is to be filed at the conclusion of the post-judgment ruling.

The Defendant's first problem is that his Rule 59 Motions were not filed timely. The Defendant filed two Rule 59 Motions. The first, contrary to the express language of the rule, was filed before the entry of the judgment. R.428; R.466. The second, contrary to the rule, was filed thirteen days after the judgment. R.419. Even if the motion had been timely, the Notice of Appeal is still not.

The Defendant's motion, under Rule 59, was made and granted in part and denied in part. The result was the court entered an amended judgment on June 19, 2000. R.499. Appellant's Notice of Appeal was filed twelve days prior to the entry of the Judgment which he is attempting to appeal from. Where the Notice of Appeal is filed prior to the final disposition of the post-judgment motion, it is of no affect. *U-M Investments v. Ray*, 658 P.2d 1186 (Utah 1982); *Anderson v. Schwendiman*, 764 P.2d 999 (Utah App. 1988). The failure of the Defendant to refile his Notice of Appeal after the entry of the Amended Judgment, leaves this Court without jurisdiction and is fatal to Defendant's claims.

The next procedural hurdle that the Defendant would need to overcome in this appeal, is his failure to marshall the evidence. This matter comes before the Court on appeal from a bench trial wherein the court entered specific findings of fact and conclusions of law. To successfully challenge the trial court's finding, the Defendant must demonstrate that the findings are clearly erroneous. To make such a showing, the Defendant must marshall all of the evidence supporting the finding, and then demonstrate how this evidence, when viewed in the light most favorable to the finding, is insufficient to support it. *Fisher v. Fisher*, 907 P.2d 1172, 1177 (Utah App. 1995). Not only has the Defendant failed to marshall all of the evidence and analyze why it does not meet this minimal standard required, but the Defendant has failed to even order the necessary transcripts to marshall the evidence. In addition to the trial, there were three separate hearings held in this case. Not one of these transcripts has been ordered by the Defendant. One of those hearings specifically dealt with the issues relating to the Request for Admissions, which issue is the predominant issue included in the Defendant's Brief. Due to the Defendant's failure to marshall the evidence, this Court should not disturb the factual findings of the trial court. *Beesley v Harris*, 883 P.2d 1343, 1349 (Utah 1994).

If this Court determines to go on and address the merits of the Defendant's appeal, it will find that those merits are sorely lacking. Defendant's initial arguments are that the trial court made a mistake by not allowing the Defendant to defraud the court. In both its original judgment and in the minute entry rejecting in large part the Rule 59 Motion of the Defendant, the court made specific findings as to the total lack of credibility of the Defendant. The court specifically stated that it was

not going to allow the Defendant to subserve the presentation of the merits of the case through some sort of procedural chicanery.

The court's ruling on the documentary evidence and allowing that evidence at trial is more than supported both in case law and by statute. Indeed, the only error the court made was in originally granting the motion to have the admissions deemed admitted. R.494.

Because service of the Request was not done appropriately, the Defendant's Motion shouldn't have been granted at all and all of the benefits he derived from that in the trial would have been more appropriately stricken. Rather than providing the Defendant a basis for appeal, the court's ruling actually would have provided the grounds for appeal by the Plaintiff. Once you get past the issue of the Request for Admissions, the determination to the remaining issues is simply a matter of credibility. "The trial court is in the best position to weigh conflicting testimony, to assess credibility, and from this, to make findings of fact." *Fisher v. Fisher*, 907 P.2d 1172, 1178 (Utah App. 1995). Although not referred to in Appellant's Brief, there was direct testimony from both Plaintiff and Defendant with respect to whether the documents at issue had been altered. The trial court found that the Defendant totally lacked credibility. The court's ruling was based in large part on that determination. In addition to the testimony of the parties, the Plaintiff was able to show other lease documents that didn't contain the provisions that had been hand-written into the lease at question in this case. The additional hand-written additions were all in the hand-writing of the Defendant. The testimony from third party witnesses went to specific elements such as the provision

of cable television which was included in the lease proffered up by the Defendant. The direct testimony from the Plaintiff Mr. Hawkins and from Mr. Royal Kay, a former resident of the home, was that there had never been any cable television at the home in Mr. Hawkins' name.

Both the weight of the evidence and the credibility of the witnesses were clearly in favor of the Plaintiff in this action. The Defendant's appeal must therefore be denied and Plaintiff should be awarded his costs and attorney's fees in responding to this appeal pursuant to the attorney's fees clause in the lease between the parties.

ARGUMENT

I. THIS Court LACKS JURISDICTION TO HEAR DEFENDANT'S APPEAL.

The time for filing an appeal is jurisdictional. *State v. Montoya*, 825 P.2d 676 (Utah App. 1991). The rules regarding the timing of such filings are clearly set forth in Rule 4 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure. This is an action brought under the Utah Unlawful Detainer Statutes. Pursuant to Rule 4(a), the Notice of Appeal in such an action is required to be filed with the clerk of the trial court within ten days after the date of entry of the Judgment. That Rule is somewhat modified by subpart (b) of Rule 4. This subsection provides in pertinent part:

If a timely motion under the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure is filed in the trial court by any party ... (3) under Rule 59 to alter or amend the judgment ... the time for appeal for all parties shall run from the entry of the order denying a new trial or granting or denying any other such motion. Similarly ... a notice of appeal filed before the disposition of any of the above motions shall have no effect. A new notice of appeal must be filed within the prescribed time measured from the

entry of the order of the trial court disposing of the motion as provided above.

U.R.A.P. Rule 4(b).

In the present case, the initial Judgment was filed on October 21, 1999. R.466. The Defendant had filed a premature Rule 59 Motion to amend on September 24, 1999, prior to the entry of the Judgment. R.428. A second Rule 59 Motion to Amend was filed on November 3, 1999. The plain language of Rule 59 requires that the motion be served “not later than ten days after the entry of the Judgment.” Under the plain language of the Rule therefore, the initial Rule 59 Motion to Amend filed on September 24, 1999, was untimely and could not toll the time to file a Notice of Appeal. *Burgers v. Maiben*, 652 P.2d 1320 (Utah 1982).

After entry of the Judgment on October 21, 1999, a second Rule 59 Motion to Amend was filed. R.469.² Although this Rule 59 Motion is purportedly dated October 27, 1999, the document was not in actuality filed with the court until November 3, 1999. R.469. Since the Judgment was filed on October 21, 1999, the Rule 59 Motion needed to be filed by October 31, 1999. October 31st was a Sunday which would allow Defendant until November 1, 1999. The Motion was not filed until November 3, 1999, making it untimely. The result is again that the untimely Motion failed to toll the time period for filing a Notice of Appeal, which in a unlawful detainer action like the one at present means the time for filing the Notice of Appeal likewise expired on November 1, 1999.

² The Motion was apparently in response to Plaintiff's First Memorandum in opposition to the initial Rule 59 Motion, where it was pointed out that the Motion was untimely. R.448.

The Notice of Appeal in this case was actually filed on June 7, 2000. R.497. In light of the untimely filing of the Notice of Appeal, this Court has no jurisdiction over the appeal and it must be dismissed.

Even had the Rule 59 Motions been timely filed, the Notice of Appeal is still untimely. The untimely Rule 59 Motion was granted in part and denied in part. The result of the partial grant of the Motion resulted in the court filing an Amended Judgment. R.499. An Amended Judgment would be the final judgment in this case. It would be the order disposing of the Rule 59 Motion. Rule 4(b) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure provides in pertinent part, "a Notice of Appeal filed before the disposition of any of the above motions shall have no effect. A new Notice of Appeal must be filed within the prescribed time measured from the entry of the order of the trial court disposing of the motion as provided above." This very issue was addressed by the Utah Supreme Court in the case of *U-M Investments v Ray*, 658 P.2d 1186 (Utah 1982). The issue in that case was whether an appeal filed before the final disposition of a Rule 59 Motion provided jurisdiction for the Appellate Court to hear an appeal. The Utah Supreme Court clearly stated:

After the motions were made by the defendants, both groups filed a notice of appeal from the September judgment. Had no motions been filed under Rule 59 within ten days of the judgment, such notice of appeal clearly would have been timely. However, under Rule 73(a) the timely motions filed to upset the judgment render the notice of appeal ineffective. The time for appeal therefore automatically was rescheduled, and an appeal then had to be taken within one month of the date of the register of actions entry that denied defendant's motions or amended the judgment.

U-M Investments v. Ray, at 1187.

There are two possible results out of a Rule 59 Motion. Either it is denied, which triggers time for filing the appeal, or it is granted, and if it is granted, then the filing of the Amended Judgment is the event that triggers the time frame for filing an appeal. The sort of preliminary ruling by the court announcing an Amended Judgment would be filed is not a final Judgment triggering the time for appeal. See *Anderson v. Schwendiman*, 764 P.2d 999 (Utah App. 1988). Accordingly, even if the Defendant had in some fashion filed a timely Motion under Rule 59, the premature filing of the Notice of Appeal before the entry of the Amended Judgment in this case makes the notice ineffective. This Court therefore lacks jurisdiction over the appeal and it must be dismissed.

II. DEFENDANT'S APPEAL SHOULD BE DENIED DUE TO HIS FAILURE TO MARSHALL THE EVIDENCE.

The Defendant seeks to challenge findings of the trial court that the lease agreement between the parties and a purported extension of that lease were documents which had been fraudulently altered by the Defendant. In order meet this burden, the Defendant must show that the finding of the trial court is "clearly erroneous." *Fisher v. Fisher*, 907 P.2d 1172, 1178 (Utah App. 1995). In *Fisher*, this Court clearly set forth the duties and burdens of a party seeking to demonstrate that the trial court's findings were clearly erroneous. This Court stated:

To successfully challenge the trial court's finding, the trust must demonstrate that finding is clearly erroneous. To make such a showing the trust must marshall all of the evidence supporting the finding and then demonstrate how this evidence, when viewed in the light most favorable to the finding, is insufficient to support it.

Fisher, at 1177. The Defendant has clearly failed in that burden in this case. Rather than citing to the evidence supporting the court's ruling, the Defendant provides his own narration as to the facts that he presented at trial. It is not in any fashion an attempt to marshall the evidence and examine the items that the court would have ruled on. This is the exact situation this Court addressed in the *Fisher* case. This Court held:

Rather than marshall the evidence, the trust merely highlights a portion of the trial court's findings and then argues that there was other, contrary evidence before the trial court ...

The trial court is in the best position to weigh conflicting testimony, to assess credibility, and from this, to make findings of fact. This Court does not lightly disturb the factual findings of a trial court. Accordingly, absent a proper showing that the trial court erred, we will not revisit the facts on appeal.

Fisher, at 1178 (citations omitted).

Not only has the Defendant failed to marshall the evidence presented at trial, he has likewise failed to even obtain transcripts of the prior hearings held in this case. One of those hearings was specifically held on the issue of the Request for Admissions which form the central portion of the Defendant's appeal. In light of the Defendant's failure to marshall the evidence, the court must presume that the evidence presented to the court was sufficient to sustain the court's ruling and deny the Defendant's appeal.

III. THE COURT PROPERLY PREVENTED THE DEFENDANT FROM PERPETRATING A FRAUD ON THE COURT.

A. The Request for Admissions was not properly served.

Rule 5 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure provides in pertinent part, “whenever under these rules service is required or permitted to be made upon a party represented by an attorney, the service shall be made upon the attorney, unless the service upon the parties is ordered by the court.” U.R.C.P. Rule 5(b)(1). Counsel first appeared for the Plaintiff at the hearing in this matter on August 3, 1998. That appearance is reflected on the docket. R.48.

On August 14, 1998, in direct contravention of the Rules of Civil Procedure, the Defendant alleges that he mailed a copy of his discovery request directly to the Plaintiff and not to Plaintiff’s counsel. R.50. The Plaintiff claims that he never received such discovery. Plaintiff’s counsel certainly never received such discovery until a Motion for Order Compelling discovery and Motion for Order Establishing Admissions were sent on or about October 5, 1998. Plaintiff’s counsel went to the court to review the file on three separate occasions. after receiving Defendant’s motion, to examine the file in this case. Each time he was told the file was not available. Plaintiff’s counsel was left therefore unable to determine that the discovery had allegedly inappropriately been sent to his client, because he never saw the mailing certificate. R.137. That document was never directly provided to Plaintiff’s counsel by the Defendant or his counsel.

The reason is obvious. The document shows that service was not appropriately made. Because the alleged service of the discovery was inappropriate, the trial court’s initial order granting

the Motion to have the items deemed admitted was improper. The court's subsequent decision therefore to allow limited testimony to the effect relating to areas where the Defendant was attempting to perpetrate a fraud on the court, while not going far enough, clearly remedied at least some of its deficiency.

**B. The Court's Decision to Grant the Motion
Deeming the Admissions Admitted Without
Proper Service was Improper.**

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